IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-75-00139

SHIRLEY SMITH

APPELLANT

2006-CA-00139

VS.

AMERISTAR CASINO VICKSBURG, INC., A MISSISSIPPI CORPORATION,

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

1. Shirley Smith

Plaintiff

2. Ameristar Casino Vicksburg, Inc.

Defendant

3. Alfred Lee Felder

Attorney

4. Van Douglas Gunter

Attorney

5. Timothy D. Moore

Attorney

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING PLAINTIFF TO HAVE THE DEFENDANT'S WRITTEN RULES, GUIDELINES, REGULATIONS, AND PROCEDURES RELATED TO THE REPORTING, PREVENTION, AND HANDLING OF INJURIES AT THE DEFENDANT'S CASINO

II.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING
THE PLAINTIFF TO USE AN EXPERT WITNESS IN THIS CASE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-TS-00139

SHIRLEY SMITH APPELLANT

VS.

AMERISTAR CASINO VICKSBURG, INC., A MISSISSIPPI CORPORATION,

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves an injury to Shirley Smith while an invitee in the Ameristar Casino Vicksburg, Inc., on April 12, 2002. Richard Murdock was a Security Guard at Ameristar Casino Vicksburg, Inc., and was working within the course and scope of his employment when a collision occurred between the Security Guard, Richard Murdock, and the business invitee-patron Shirley Smith, on April 12, 2002.

As a result of the collision, Shirley Smith fell hard on her hands and knees. Her treating physician, Dr. Keith Melancon, an Orthopaedic Surgeon from the Southern Bone & Joint Clinic in Hattiesburg, Mississippi, testified that Shirley Smith would need a knee replacement of the knees in each leg. Medical expenses for these knee replacements, together with other treatment until the knee replacement, would exceed one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000.00).

Following a jury verdict for the Defendant, and the entry of a FINAL JUDGMENT

on November 10, 2005, (R.1014) The Plaintiff, Shirley Smith, filed a Motion for a New Trial or in the Alternative Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict. (R.1015)

Order denying Plaintiff's Motion for New trial or in the Alternative, Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict was entered on December 22, 2005. (R.1022) (R E 8)

Notice of Appeal was timely filed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 12, 2002, Shirley Smith went to the Ameristar Casino Vicksburg, Inc., in Vicksburg, Mississippi, a Casino that she had gone to many times. (R.360) She said that sometimes she would maybe go once a month. Then when she got to liking it better, she would go maybe twice a month, and then she might even go about once every week. She said she would stop for a while, and then she would start back. She enjoyed going to the Casino. (R.360)

On the day of the injury, she was playing a slot machine, Sizzling Seven's. (R.361) After playing the machine for a while, she decided to get a soft drink or water. She was going to get it either in the Blue's Bar, or the VIP section, of which she was a member. (R.363, 364) As the boat sits parallel to the riverbank in Vicksburg, Mississippi, Shirley Smith would have gone down stream in the boat, or toward the back of the boat for a short distance, and then would have turned in a westerly direction, or a direction that would have taken one across the river. It was after she made this turn that she would have been walking

across the Blue's Bar section and going away from the Vicksburg riverbank side toward the Louisiana side of the river. As Shirley Smith was near the entrance of the Blue's Bar, a collision took place between Shirley Smith and a Security Guard named Richard Murdock.

Plaintiff's Exhibit 10 is a DVD video of that collision, and Exhibit A is a video tape of the collision.

As a result of that collision Plaintiff suffered serious and permanent injuries, and as mentioned above, Dr. Keith Melancon has testified that she will need a knee replacement for each knee.

Plaintiff takes this appeal because of discovery rulings and evidentiary rulings by the trial judge that were an abuse of discretion an denied the Plaintiff and opportunity to establish a standard of care in this case, and denied the Plaintiff the opportunity to have an Expert witness assist the jury in understanding the responsibilities of the Casino Security Guard and the Ameristar Casino concerning its patrons such as Shirley Smith.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiff, Shirley Smith, was an invited guest of Ameristar Casino in Vicksburg on April 12, 2002. Richard Murdock was an employee of Ameristar Casino in Vicksburg on April 12, 2002, and as stipulated by the parties, was acting within the course and scope of his employment when a collision between the Plaintiff and Richard Murdock on that day. (R.353) According to Dr. Keith Melancon, Orthopaedic Surgeon from the Southern Bone & Joint Clinic in Hattiesburg, Mississippi, Shirley Smith will need a double knee replacement

as a result of her fall in the Ameristar Casino. Medical treatment at the time of trial exceeded \$18,000.00, and the cost of knee replacements were \$35,000.00 to \$45,000.00 per replacement. (Dr. Keith Melancon deposition at trial, page 32-34; Plaintiff Exhibit 1 for ID)

Plaintiff propounded Request for Production of Document that called for the written rules, guidelines, regulations, and procedures related to the reporting, prevention, and handling of injuries to Ameristar Casino Vicksburg customer's such as Plaintiff. The Defendant objected to Plaintiff's Request. The Defendant wanted this case tried as a case in which two individuals in the casino walked into each other, and let the jury determine which of the two individuals were at fault in the walking into each other as if the individuals were of equal standing.

The Plaintiff viewed the case as one between persons not of equal standings, or put another way, were in this casino for different reasons. Shirley Smith was a business invitee, a VIP patron of the Casino, and was there to have fun an enjoy herself. Richard Murdock was a Security Guard at the Casino, and at the time of the collision between Shirley Smith and Richard Murdock, it was Richard Murdock's responsibility to roam or move about the Casino to keep the property of the Casino safe and to look after the safety of the patrons. Plaintiff's theory of the case was that Richard Murdock failed in his responsibility to watch after the patrons in the Casino, and rather than prevent problems to Casino patrons, he became the problem by not properly doing his job. The video tape and DVD's of the collision between the Security Guard and the patron, Shirley Smith, would show that the

Security Guard was walking East to West while looking South into the Blue's Bar. At about the same time the activity in the Blue's Bar apparently caught the attention of Shirley Smith, who turned to go toward the Blue's Bar.

Instead of the Security Guard stopping and looking into the Blue's Bar to see whatever it was that attracted his attention, he continued to walk in a Westerly direction while looking in a Southerly direction. While the Security Guard was in this posture, he and Shirley Smith collided, causing Shirley Smith to fall and suffer serious injuries.

Plaintiff propounded Request for Production of Documents, specifically Request for Production No. 11, to assist him in determining the nature and extent of the training of Richard Murdock, and to determine Richard Murdock's duties and responsibilities as required by the Ameristar Casino. In other words, Plaintiff was trying to determine the standard of care required of Richard Murdock working as a security officer for Ameristar Casino. This discovery was denied to the Plaintiff by the trial judge, and is reversible error.

Having been denied the documents from Ameristar Casino which would assist Plaintiff in determining the standard of care from the view of Ameristar Casino, the Plaintiff hired a highly qualified Casino Security Expert to assist the Plaintiff in determining the standard of care for the Ameristar Casino Security Guard and the standard of care for Ameristar itself insofar as it concerned the training and responsibilities of the Security Guard, and whether or not the Casino adequately trained its Security Guards. Further the Expert would have established a standard of care that the Security Guard should have met and that the Casino

should have met concerning the incident the resulted in the injury to Shirley Smith. The trial Court on Motion by the Defendant would not let the Plaintiff use a Security Guard in this case.

Both of the above rulings by the trial judge were reversible error, and Plaintiff asks that this case be reversed and remanded for a new trial, at which time Plaintiff would receive the discovery material requested and can use an Expert in setting a standard of care for the Security Guard and the Casino under the circumstances of this incident.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING PLAINTIFF TO HAVE THE DEFENDANT'S WRITTEN RULES, GUIDELINES, REGULATIONS, AND PROCEDURES RELATED TO THE REPORTING, PREVENTION, AND HANDLING OF INJURIES AT THE DEFENDANT'S CASINO

Our Court has long held that where limitations on discovery are improvidently ordered or allowed and important information is denied a litigant, the Court will reverse the lower Court. That rule of law is set out in *Fred's Stores of Miss. v. M & H Drugs*, 725 So.2d 902 (Miss. 1998)(at ¶ 66):

¶ 66. The trial court's grant or denial of a motion to compel is subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review on appeal. *Taylor Machine Works, Inc. v. Great American Surplus Lines Ins. Co.,* 635 So.2d 1357, 1363 (Miss. 1994). "Where, however, limitations on discovery are improvidently ordered or allowed and important information is denied a litigant reversal will obtain." *Dawkins v. Redd Pest Control Co., Inc.,* 607 So.2d 1232, 1235 (Miss. 1992). In

Dawkins, guidelines were enumerated for determining whether there was an abuse of discretion:

[A] trial court's discretion in the discovery area is generally guided by the principles that (a) the court follow the general policy that discovery be encouraged, (b) limitations on discovery should be respected but not extended, (c) while the exercise of discretion depends on the parties' factual showings disputed facts should be construed in favor [of] discovery, and (d) while the importance of the information must be weighed against the hardships and cost of production and its availability through other means, it is preferable for the court to impose partial limitations on discovery rather than an outright denial. Any record which indicates a failure to give adequate consideration to these concepts is subject to the attack of abuse of discretion, regardless of the fact that the order shows no such abuse on its face.

Id. at 1236 (quoting 23 Am. Jur.2d, Depositions and Discovery § 5 (1983)).

In Plaintiff's First Request for Production to the Defendant, the Plaintiff made Request No. 11:

Produce copies of all of your written rules, guidelines, regulations, and procedures related to the reporting, prevention, and handling of injuries to Ameristar Casino, Vicksburg customers such as Plaintiff.

The Defendant's response was: Response No. 11: Objection, this request is vague, ambiguous, assumes facts not in evidence, is not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence, and is calculated solely to harass and create an undue burden on ACVI.

In a Motion to Compel the Plaintiff stated as a reason for compelling supplementation:

There is nothing vague or ambiguous about this request, either Defendant has material or it does not. If it does not, it should say so. If it does have it, the request is certainly calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence and has nothing to do with trying to harass and create an undue burden on anyone.

Subsequently, the Defendant Ameristar made a Supplemental Response as follows:

Supplemental Response: Objection. This request is vague, ambiguous, assumes facts not in evidence, is not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence and is calculated solely to harass and create an undue burden on ACVI. <u>In addition, the request to documents are proprietary in nature such that, to the extent any Court should order the production of any responsive materials, said production should only be made with a protective order in place. (Emphasis added)</u>

On September 17, 2004, the Court signed an Order which held in paragraph 15 "Plaintiff's Motion to Compel Ameristar's Response to Request No. 11 is denied." (R. 497)

A Lawyer cannot possibility know everything about every subject that comes into his office. This Court in its wisdom adopted the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. The rules on discovery, which are generally Rules 26 through Rule 37, allow counsel to learn about the intricacies concerning a particular case.

Plaintiff counsel generally thought of a security guard as one who patrols a warehouse. In the case of a Casino Security Guard, there are other responsibilities as plaintiff counsel learned during the evolving discovery.

The security guard is suppose to walk the floor and observe the floor and keep problems from happening on the casino floor. In this case the security guard became a part of the problem. The requested manuals would have allowed counsel to educate himself as to the duties and responsibilities of a security guard as seen by Ameristar Casino. Plaintiff counsel could then have seen whether or not the security guard breached his duties and responsibilities as setforth by Ameristar Casino. (See Affidavit of Ken Braunstein R. 520)

Secondly, the manuals could have been looked at to see whether or not Ameristar Casino had adequate training and regulations in place, or whether or not the Casino itself was negligent, rather than by <u>respondiat superior</u> through the security guard, in a failure to have adequate training, etc. (Braunstein Affidavit R. 520)

The denial of the materials sought in Request No. 11 kept the Plaintiff from discovering important information in this case. It was a violation of Rule 26 and the intent of Rule 26. The ruling by the Judge was an abuse of digression.

If the information was proprietary as claimed by defense counsel, then a protective order could have been put in place as recommended by defense counsel in his Supplemental Response to Request No. 11. (Brief p.8) The error of the Court denied the Plaintiff a reasonable opportunity to discover important information about her case, and thus, a fair trial.

The Plaintiff respectfully request that she be granted a new trial due to this reversible error.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING THE PLAINTIFF TO USE AN EXPERT WITNESS IN THIS CASE

The Plaintiff filed a Supplemental Designation of Experts on September 24, 2004 naming Ken Braunstein as an Expert concerning security procedures at the Ameristar Casino. (R. 510) Attached to that Designation of Experts at (R. 511) was a Resume of the Expert.

In a Motion to Supplement Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, Plaintiff attached an Affidavit (R. 518, 518, 520, and 521) in response to the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Ken Braunstein by Resume and Affidavit is a highly qualified Expert. His conclusions concerning the security at Ameristar Casino, Security Guard Murdock, and the training of Mr. Murdock are setforth in his conclusions at (R. 520). For convenience those conclusions are setforth below:

Conclusions

From the available information, it is my opinion, at best, SO Murdock was badly trained and supervised. Due to the absence of Ameristar security policies and procedures, and the absence of any documentation that SO Murdock was trained, I am unable to state what his training was and whether or not it complied with Ameristar Casino guidelines.

Based on what I have seen in SO Murdock's deposition and the security tape, it is my opinion that SO Murdock was not sufficiently trained, and that the Ameristar Casino did not sufficiently train and test SO Murdock to assure Ameristar Casino that SO Murdock has an acceptable knowledge of his duties and the required training to perform his duties.

It is my opinion that the reasonable prudent casino, Ameristar Casino in this case, would train its security officers such as SO Murdock and that if SO Murdock was properly trained and supervised, he would not have collided with Mrs. Smith.

It is further my opinion that a reasonably prudent security officer such as SO Murdock, being properly trained, would be aware of his surroundings, would be properly observant, and would observe the Casino for problems, rather than becoming a part of the problem as he did in this case by colliding with a casino customer, Shirley Smith, while he was distracted by music from an adjoining lounge.

It is my opinion that both the defendant Casino and security officer fell below the level of a reasonable prudent security officer and a reasonable prudent casino in their actions in the fall of Shirley Smith, and were a proximate contributing cause of the fall of Mrs. Smith.

THIS CONCLUDES MY REPORT

I hereby state under the penalty fo perjury that the foregoing is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief.