IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2006-TS-00139

SHIRLEY SMITH

APPELLANT

vs.

AMERISTAR CASINO VICKSBURG, INC.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE AMERISTAR CASINO VICKSBURG, INC.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

SUBMITTED BY:

TIMOTHY D. MOORE (MSB # CURRIE JOHNSON GRIFFIN GAINES & MYERS, P.A. 1044 River Oaks Drive (39232) P. O. BOX 750 JACKSON, MS 39205-0750 TELEPHONE: (601) 969-1010 FACSIMILE: (601) 969-5120



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2006-TS-00139

SHIRLEY SMITH

APPELLANT

vs.

AMERISTAR CASINO VICKSBURG, INC.

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant's argument for reversal is as follows:

The Plaintiff in this trial was put in a position of trying to extract from the alleged negligent casino employee the standard of care of that employee. Because Plaintiff was not given the training manuals for security officers, and was not allowed to have the assistance of an expert in defining the standards for a security officer in the situation that existed at the time that security officer Murdock and Plaintiff Shirley Smith collided, Plaintiff was denied a fair trial.⁷

Put another way, Appellant's position is that this case is about "security" and the fact the accident happened to have occurred at a casino. She would have this Court believe that "manuals" regarding the "training" of security personnel would be probative of this issue, and that "an Expert could [have] help[ed] the jury understand the duties of a security guard in the casino environment . . . "⁸ According to the Appellant, this environment is one where "adults . . . come and enjoy themselves" and "there are a lot of things to attract the attention of patrons and to keep them happy and help them enjoy themselves."⁹

Appellant's argument and requested relief are predicated on three fallacies. The first is that the plaintiff actually propounded a discovery request seeking security "training manuals." The second is that the jury would have been assisted by the testimony of an "expert" who would have told the jury that the accident occurred because ACVI did not train its employee on how to walk. The third and overriding fallacy is that: (1) this case has something to do with "security"

⁷Appellant's Brief, p. 15 ⁸Id. at 12. ⁹Id. at 15. other than that the person unlucky enough to be between the plaintiff and her "hot" slot machine just happened to be an ACVI security guard; and (2) the fact the incident happened in a casino is somehow probative of the "standard of care" to be applied.

As for the first fallacy, the fact is that the plaintiff never propounded a discovery request seeking security training manuals. It is a logical fallacy to say that the Lower Court could have erred in refusing to order the production of records that were never requested. As for the second fallacy, a jury does not need an expert to assist them in determining whether two people who ended up occupying the same space at the same time were paying attention to where they were going. This is a matter within the common knowledge and experience of the jury and is not an appropriate subject of expert testimony. Plaintiff's proffered "expert" would only have improperly attempted to tell the jury how to decide the case. The Lower Court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allow this testimony.

Overriding all of this is the third fallacy: Appellant's mistaken belief that the fact the accident happened (1) in a casino, (2) with a security guard means something. It does not. Appellant is fond of speaking about the "environment" in the casino and all of things in that environment calculated to distract patrons. The bottom line is that the plaintiff wanted the Lower Court to, and would have this Court, make its decisions based not on *how* the accident occurred, but instead on the fact it happened to occur in a casino.

The Court of Appeals rejected this very argument in Ratcliff v.

5

*Rainbow Casino-Vicksburg, L.P.*¹⁰ in which the plaintiff argued for a different standard of care for casinos:

Ratcliff argues that casinos are inherently different from other businesses, such as grocery stores, because it is the purpose if a casino to "seduce the invitee to get lost in time and space and to create the [sic] 'magical effects' and 'dream-like state'." However, Ratcliff fails to point out the examples that are more on point: bars, movie theatres, museums, musicals, nightclubs, amusement parks, state fairs, etc. All these businesses rely on being able to attract and keep customers entertained for hours. All these businesses employee flashy attractions designed to keep customers riveted. All do so for profit.¹¹

The Ratliff Court declined to impose a different standard for casinos, and the Lower Court in this matter also rightly refused to have the case decided on the basis of whose ox would be gored. The plaintiff tripped over someone's feet. The accident happened to have occurred in a casino. The "someone" happened to be an ACVI employee. The employee also happened to be a security guard. All of these facts are incidental. It could have been any employee, any patron and could have occurred anywhere, at any business establishment. The bottom line is that this case has nothing to do with the training of security guards, was not a case for expert testimony, and Appellant's illogical argument regarding a non-existent discovery request is simply a red herring. The Lower Court did not abuse its discretion,¹² and this Court should allow the judgment of the Lower Court to stand.

¹⁰914 So. 2d 762 (Miss. App. 2005)

¹¹Ratcliff, 914 So. 2d at 765.

¹²The standard of review for the admission or suppression of evidence is an abuse of discretion. The decision of the trial judge should stand unless arbitrary or clearly erroneous. Troupe v. McAuley, 995 So. 2d 848, 855-56 (Miss. 2007); Miss. Trans. Comm'n v. McLemore, 863 So. 2d 31, 34 (Miss. 2003).

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ORDER THE PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS THE PLAINTIFF NEVER REQUESTED
 - Appellant argues that the materials she requested in Request No. 11 were materials related to the "training" of security guards. By the plain language of Request No. 11, Appellant's position is without merit.

Request for Production Number 11 is the sole discovery request at issue on appeal. What it requested was:

. . . copies of all of [ACVI's] written rules, guidelines, regulations, and procedures related to the reporting, prevention, and handling of injuries to Ameristar Casino, Vicksburg customers such as plaintiff.

ACVI objected to producing these materials on grounds including (but not limited to) that any such documents were "not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence" and were "proprietary in nature."¹³ In the hearing on plaintiff's motion to compel a response to Request No. 11, plaintiff's argument for why the documents should be produced was as follows:

Your Honor, . . . we're asking for procedures related to the reporting, prevention and handling of injuries to these customers. That's all. The history of the case would show, Your Honor, that they did handle this. We'd like to know what their procedures are. We'd like to know if the procedures were handled correctly in this particular case. In other words, what are they supposed to do? Are they supposed to get a witness statement from her? Is that part of the thing they're supposed to do when she was in that jumbled state when she was slammed to the floor? We just want to know what the procedures were. If they have them, fine. If they don't, okay.¹⁴

¹³R pp. 111, 32, 33, 97 and 98.

¹⁴T pp. 28 ln 14-28.

Plaintiff's argument mentioned nothing about "security manuals."

After the hearing on her motion to compel, the appellant changed her story and began to represent that request No. 11 sought the production of manuals related to the training of security guards. For example, at the hearing on ACVI's Motion to Strike the testimony of her would-be expert, Ken Braunstein, Plaintiff asked the Court to "reconsider its earlier ruling [denying the production of] . . . manuals of the casino for . . . training of the security guard" so plaintiff could "see whether or not this security guard was following what the casino required of him."¹⁵

Appellant continues this argument on appeal, arguing that "[t]he requested materials would have allowed counsel to educate himself as to the duties and responsibilities of a security guard . . . [and] whether or not the security guard breached his duties and responsibilities as setforth [sic] by Ameristar Casino."¹⁶ Appellant further argues that "the manuals could have been looked at to see whether or not Ameristar Casino had adequate training and regulations in place, or whether or not the casino itself was negligent, rather than by respondiat superior through the security guard in a failure to have adequate training, etc."¹⁷

Appellant's position that Request No. 11 calls for the production of manuals related to the training of security guards is a contrivance. The plain language of request no. 11 does not request

¹⁵T p. 96 ln 19-25.

¹⁶See Appellant's Brief, p. 9, ¶ 1.

¹⁷Id. p. 9, ¶ 2.

these materials. This is confirmed by the fact that in moving to compel the production of the requested materials, plaintiff did not argue that the documents sought were materials related to the training of security guards. This is because the request does not ask for those materials, and plaintiff only concocted this argument after the fact. It is a non-sequitur to say that the Lower Court erred in refusing to order the production of materials that were not requested. The issue of the production of manuals was never before the Lower Court.

2. Even if the plaintiff had requested materials related to the "training" of security guards, the Lower Court's ruling still would have been proper, as any such materials would not be probative of any fact at issue nor would they have been reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

The purpose of the rules of discovery is to clarify the issues and prevent trial by ambush.¹⁸ These purposes are embodied in the litmus test outlining discovery and limiting what is discoverable to that which is not privileged **and** that which is "reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence."¹⁹ The comment to Rule 26 states that "[d]iscovery should be limited to the specific practices or acts that are in issue . . . [and] MRCP 26(b)(1) is intended to favor limitations, rather than expansions, on permissible discovery."²⁰

¹⁸McCarty v. Kellum, 667 So. 2d 1277 (Miss. 1995); Townsend v. Warren, 373 So. 2d 811 (Miss. 1979).

¹⁹Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(1); Scott v. Flynt, 704 So. 2d 998, 1004 (Miss. 1996).

²⁰See also Mississippi Bar v. Land, 653 So. 2d 899, 910-11 (Miss. 1995).

Even had the Appellant actually requested training manuals and the Lower Court denied that request, such a ruling would have been proper. The fact that a security guard happened to be the unlucky person between the plaintiff and her "hot" slot machine is incidental. All of the ACVI employees walk through the casino floor at one time or another. It could just as well have been the cook or the slot tech or cocktail server or even another patron who had the plaintiff trip over their feet. The accident had nothing to do with the "training" of security guards. It had everything to do with one person walking in a straight line and another not watching where she was going. Materials related to the "training" of security guards would not have been probative of any fact at issue nor would they have been reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. The Court would have been correct in refusing to order their production.²¹

> 3. The Lower Court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to order production of the materials actually requested by Plaintiff in Request No. 11, as those documents would not have been probative of any fact at issue nor would they have been reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

As for the materials actually requested, i.e, "written rules, guidelines, regulations, and procedures related to the reporting, prevention, and handling of injuries to . . . [ACVI] customers . . .," the Lower Court appropriately asked the following question:

But how would that- if they did not follow their procedures,

²¹Taylor Machine Works, Inc. v. Great American Surplus Lines Ins. Co., 635 So. 2d 1357, 1363 (Miss. 1994) (noting denial of motion to compel is subject to abuse of discretion standard).

how would that affect their liability?²²

To this question, appellant's counsel responded as follows:

The liability would be a good question, Your Honor. There is a statement that she made in there that was produced to us that said that they got a statement from her. I don't think they should have compelled her to give a statement, a witness statement in the state that she was in.²³

After hearing this argument, the Court ruled that the requested materials need not be disclosed.²⁴ This ruling was not an abuse of discretion. The question of whether ACVI personnel followed "procedure" in taking witness statements after the accident is simply not probative of any fact in issue and the materials actually requested were not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.²⁵

B. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING "EXPERT" TESTIMONY IN "WALKING"

Appellant complains that the Lower Court did not allow the testimony of an "expert" in walking. Appellant will likely argue this characterization is incorrect. However, any such argument would once again be rooted in the fallacy that this case has something to do with "security" or the fact this accident happened in a casino.

In its role as gatekeeper, the Lower Court was charged with the

²⁴T p. 29 ln 11-14. The Court made it clear that the plaintiff could retool the request, and the ruling might be different.

²⁵See Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(1); Mississippi Rule of Evidence 401. ACVI also objected to the request on the grounds that it was vague and ambiguous as worded. While it is difficult to tell what the plaintiff is asking for, it is clear that the request does not seek the production of security training manuals.

²²T pp. 28 ln 19; 29 ln 1-2.

²³T p. 29 ln 3-10.

duty to determine whether the proposed testimony of Ken Braunstein was both relevant **and** reliable.²⁶ This requirement of "relevance" means that the jury must have **needed** the assistance of the expert in weighing the evidence. "The touchstone of whether a witness may testify as an expert under Rule 702 is whether the witness would be helpful **to the trier of fact**, not to the party's case."²⁷ If a jury can assess the facts "using only their common experience and knowledge," then expert testimony is not necessary and should be excluded.²⁸

Applying this first "relevance" prong, the Lower Court excluded the testimony of Braunstein, ruling as follows:

The Court is going to exclude the testimony of Ken Braunstein under Rule 702. The Court- before an expert can testify, he has to have some specialized knowledge that would be helpful to the trier of fact. And Mr. Braunstein may have some specialized knowledge in some other areas, but this is a case where two people walked in to each other. It's within the common purview of - the Court having watched the tape repeatedly of the incident, this is something - a matter of common knowledge with the jurors. They do not need specialized, expert testimony to tell people how to walk and pay attention to where they are putting their feet.

The Court has to be guarded against having some expert come in and tell the jury how to decide the case, and I think that's what Mr. Braunstein would do. He'd be trying to give some sort of - put his degree and all his expertise and his - whatever else, trying to tell people how to walk, and people know how to walk. And so the Court feels he does not have specialized knowledge in this particular case as to be

²⁷Stonicher v. International Snubbing Services, LLC, 2003 WL 22208577 at *1 (E.D.La. Sept. 19, 2003)(emphasis added)(citing Hardin v. Ski Venture, Inc., 50 F.2d 1291, 1296 (4th Cir. 1995)).

²⁸Peters v. Five Star Marine Service, 898 F.2d 448, 450 (5th Cir. 1990).

²⁶Miss. Trans. Comm'n v. McLemore, 863 So. 2d 31, 34 (Miss. 2003); Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 592 (1993). See also Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702.

admissible and be helpful to the jury in this case. The Court is going to strike Mr. Braunstein's testimony.

This is - if it had been some sort of other case where security was of particular importance, such as a take-down of a rowdy client or something, patron - excuse me - or something else like that, which I've had in this court, how you take them down, how do you take a drunk out of the place or something like that, his testimony might be relevant. This is where two people walked and were walking along and tripped into each other. It doesn't matter whether he was the security guard or checker or whatever else. Two people bumped into each other. One of them happened to be an employee, and Ameristar is responsible for any negligence of that employee under vicarious liability. So that's the issue before the Court.²⁹

As the Lower Court correctly noted, Braunstein's testimony would not be "expert" in nature. "Walking" is not a "scientific or technical" subject, and it strains the imagination to think how it is somehow "specialized" such that the jury needed an expert to explain it. While Braunstein tried (and the appellant is still trying) to couch his opinions in terms of "security" and "training," word-play cannot transform his opinions into something they are not. Mr. Brauntsein's opinions are a perfect example of the trend in "personal injury litigation in which 'expert testimony' is proffered concerning common sense issues with which the finders of fact need no expert assistance."³⁰ The Lower Court was correct in refusing to allow this

²⁹T. pp. 96 ln 28-29; 97; 98 ln 1-12 (emphasis added).

³⁰Roy v. Florida Marine Transporters, Inc., 2004 WL 551208 at *3 (E.D.La. March 18, 2004). This trend has been described as follows:

The testimony of an "expert" is tendered, who is an individual who happens to have some title, normally describing himself as a "consultant." A review of their "expert" reports normally reveals that the reports consist of the appreciation of the facts (some of which are usually in dispute), their conclusion as to what the law is or ought to be, as far as fixing the responsibility for the accident, trend to continue.

While the Court did not reach the second "reliability" prong of its gatekeeping responsibilities, an examination of the reliability of Braunstein's opinions would also have required that his opinions be excluded. Frankly, calling his opinions "unreliable" is charitable. For example, Braunstein states that "there is no record of what Ameristar security policies and procedures required that security officers be required to learn"; "no record of documentation of [the security quard] being tested to determine what he learned from his on the job training"; and "no documentation that [the security guard] received any training." In the next breath, however, after swearing he knows nothing about what, if any, training and supervision ACVI's security officers may have had, Braunstein opines that "at best, [the security guard] was badly trained and supervised" and that had the security guard been "properly trained and supervised, he would not have collied with Mrs. Smith." Frankly, the extent to which these "opinions" are intellectually dishonest is astonishing.

If the record is devoid of any evidence of what training Ameristar provided its employee (ignoring, once again the fiction of the need to "train" people on how to walk), how can Braunstein say whether the training was or was not adequate or appropriate? Also, if appropriate training and/or supervision would have prevented the

and for sure, a reservation at the end of the report to change their opinion if they learn more information.

Williams v. Eckstein Marine Services, Inc., 1992 WL 373616, *1 (E.D.La. 1992).

accident, what is that training or supervision that would have prevented the accident? Braunstein did not say. **Essentially, according** to Braunstein, the accident is proof of liability, and the fact he was hired by the plaintiff means it must have been the defendant's fault.³¹ This is nothing more than *ipse dixit* and is not reliable expert testimony.³²

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